Molecular Mechanisms Underlying Human Somatic Cell Reprogramming to Generate Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

4

Pauline Lieu

Contents

Abstract	39
Introduction	40
Mechanisms of Transcription Factors Induce Pluripotency	40
Roles of miRNAs in Reprogramming	41
Global Epigenetic Changes in Pluripotent Stem Cells	42
Phases of Reprogramming	43
A Mesenchymal-to-Epithelial Transition	44
Establishing Pluripotency	44
Conclusion	44
References	45

Abstract

The discovery by Yamanaka and Thomson has opened a "new era" for biology and regenerative medicine. They showed that by expressing four transcription factors in somatic cells, these cells can be reprogrammed to induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) similar to embryonic stem cells and can give rise to almost every cell type in the human body. The creation of these special cells was major ground-breaking work in cell biology and opened the path for providing unprecedented access to patient-specific iPS cells for drug screening, disease modeling and cell therapy applications. Beside therapeutic issues, iPS cell technology opens the door for broader research on human pluripotent cells because ethical limitations are lifted with iPS cells as compared to hES cells. Therefore, it is not surprising that the methods for generating iPSCs have significantly evolved over the past few years. We are now able to convert essentially any somatic cell type into iPSCs with increased efficiency and at higher quality when compared to ESCs. Despite these advances, the molecular events occurring during various stages of reprogramming remain largely unknown. In this review we will discuss the current understanding of molecular mechanisms underlying human somatic cell reprogramming to generate induced pluripotent stem cells.

P. Lieu (🖂)

Global Science & Innovation Office, R&D, Life Technologies, 5781 Van Allen Way, Carlsbad, CA 92008, USA e-mail: Pauline.lieu@lifetech.com

Introduction

The first mouse embryonic stem cell line, established in the 1980s, demonstrated their ability to proliferate indefinitely and differentiate into three germ layers. Since then, embryonic stem cells have shown great promise for advancing the fields of drug discovery, disease modeling and regenerative medicine. In the past, it was widely believed that once stem cells differentiated, they could not revert back to an earlier development stage until the invention of somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT) (Briggs and King 1952). This technique replaces the nuclei of oocytes with those of somatic cells, resulting in the reversal of the fused cells from a differentiated to pluripotent status. Subsequently, many species of mammalian cells have been successfully cloned, including the famous cloned sheep "Dolly" (Campbell et al. 1996). However, this approach has low success rates and raises ethical issues regarding the use of embryos.

In 2006, Takahashi and Yamanaka successfully generated induced-pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) with the novel approach of using viral integration of four transcription factors, Oct4, Sox2, Klf4 and cMyc. Subsequently, Yu et al. (2007) also successfully generated iPSCs using another set of four defined factors, Oct4, Sox2, Nanog and Lin28. Induced pluripotent stem cells share many features with embryonic stem cells in that they show similar gene and protein expression profiles and can generate viable, fertile live-born mice (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006). This revolutionary technique has demonstrated the feasibility of using somatic cells to generate iPSCs. Patient specific iPSCs can now be derived from the cells of the same patient, thereby conceivably avoiding the immune rejection that occurs with SCNT or human embryonic stem cells (hESCs). In addition, the use of somatic cells as the starting material circumvents the ethical issues associated with the use of human embryos. Subsequently, many iPSCs have been generated from various types of somatic cells, including keratinocytes, neuronal stem cells and fibroblasts (Aasen et al. 2008) (Takahashi et al. 2007). These iPSCs display gene expression patterns, cell morphology and the capacity of forming teratoma in vivo similar to those of hESCS (Takahashi et al. 2007). The potential of iPS cell technology shows great promise to the research and medical communities. However, the actual molecular mechanism of induced reprogramming still remains undefined. In this chapter, we will summarize recent advances in iPS cells research and describe some of the molecular processes underlying pluripotency reprogramming.

Mechanisms of Transcription Factors Induce Pluripotency

The original discovery of Tahakashi and Yamanaka (2006) reported the use of four transcription factors Oct4, Sox2, Klf4 and cMyc (OSKM), to reprogram somatic cells to induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). This combination of factors emerged from an initial screen of mouse fibroblasts based on co-transduction of 24 candidate genes (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006). The generation of iPSCs with this method has now been reported from mouse and human somatic cells using various methods (Carey et al. 2011). Direct reprogramming is a slow and inefficient process, with estimated efficiencies in human cells ranging from 0.02 to 1% (Chin et al. 2009). Studies demonstrated that equal stoichiometry of all four reprogramming factor expressions is a critical contributing factor to successful hiPSC induction (Tiemann et al. 2011). In addition, the expression of four factors is required for a minimum of 12-16 days before activation of pluripotent markers emerge (Ruff et al. 2012).

It is thought that each reprogramming factor plays a distinct role in inducing reprogramming and maintaining pluripotency. The transcription factors Oct4, Sox2 and Nanog have essential roles in early development and are required for maintenance of embryonic stem cells (Boyer et al. 2005). Studies reported that Oct, Sox and Nanog collaborate to form regulatory circuitry consisting of autoregulatory and feedforward loops (Boyer et al. 2005). These factors occupy genes that encode important developmentally homeodomain transcription factors as well as chromatin regulators in ES cells. In addition, it was shown that at the transcriptional level, Oct4 and Sox2 downregulate snail mRNA, the epithelial to mesenchymal transition regulator, during reprogramming (Li et al. 2010). Meanwhile, Klf4 induced E-cadherin mRNA and other epithelial markers (Li et al. 2010), while cMyc reduced TGFb signaling by repressing the TGFb1 and TGFb receptors (Kim et al. 2010). The target genes of these transcription factors are similar in iPSCs to those previously defined in ESCs (Plath and Lowry 2011).

cMyc has been shown to be dispensable for reprogramming, however, with dramatically reduced efficiency and kinetics (Nakagawa et al. 2008). Studies found that cMyc network is largely independent of the core ES cell pluripotency network and thus not involved in the upregulation of the pluripotency network during the final step of reprogramming (Plath and Lowry 2011). Rather, functions of cMyc include targeting genes that are involved in cell proliferation, metabolism, and biosynthetic pathways. A recent report also suggests that cMyc plays a major role in the release of promoter-proximal pausing of RNA polymerase II (Pol II) and thereby enhances the elongation of transcripts, rather than Pol II recruitment at its target genes (Rahl et al. 2010). These suggest that cMyc could enhance, but are not absolutely required for transcription of its target genes. Even though cMyc has been shown to be dispensable for reprogramming, cMyc over expression may lay the framework for the efficient induction of proliferation.

Although partially reprogrammed cells have successfully acquired a proliferative capacity, many pluripotency-related genes are not occupied by Oct4, Sox2 and Klf4, and the endogenous Nanog and Oct4 are not reactivated (Kim et al. 2010). One hypothesis is that in partially reprogrammed cells these transcription factors may need other proteins that are not yet available in pre-iPSCs to allow cooperative binding of the factors to promoter regions. One candidate is the transcription factor Nanog, which has extensive protein-protein interaction and co-localizes with Oct4 and Sox2 at a set of promoter regions in ES cells (Chen et al. 2008). In pre-iPSCs, many of the Nanog target genes completely lack binding of transcription factors as compared to ES cells. Nanog is absolutely essential for the generation of iPSCs, but required only during the final step of reprogramming (Theunissen et al. 2011).

Roles of miRNAs in Reprogramming

In 2004, Suh and colleagues identified a set of embryonic stem cell-specific miRNA which consequently have been found to contribute to embryo development. Moreover, deficiency in these miRNAs can cause detrimental defects in cell proliferation and differentiation. Among the highly expressed ESC-specific miRNAs, miR302/367 is highly expressed in early embryonic development and rapidly declines after differentiation (Ren et al. 2009). Several laboratories have reported the role of miR-302/367 in reprogramming (Subramanyam et al. 2011).

In 2008, Lin et al. and their peers demonstrated that a small noncoding RNA, called miR302, can replace all previously defined factors to reprogram human and mouse somatic cells to ESC-like iPSCs. Elevated miR302 expression triggers both global demethylation and coexpression of Oct4, Sox2 and Nanog in human iPSCs (Lin et al. 2011). MiR-302 is a 23 ribonucleotide microRNA expressed abundantly in human ESCs but is absent in all differentiated tissue cells (Kim et al. 2010). Specifically, it functions as a gene silencer and simultaneously downregulates multiple epigenetic regulators, including lysine specific histone demethylases 1 and 2 (namely AOF2/1, LSD1/2, or KDM1/1B), DNA cytosine 5-methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1) and methyl-CpG binding proteins 1 and 2 (MECP1/2) (Lin et al. 2011). DNA methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1), an essential regulator in DNA methylation, is then silenced in response to the down-regulation of AOF2, leading to genomewide demethylation and consequently coactivation of pluripotency-promoting genes (Lin et al. 2011). Silencing of these epigenetic regulators induces global DNA demethylation, the first sign of somatic cell reprogramming.

In addition, miR302/367 also directly targets NR2F2, a member of the nuclear orphan receptor family of transcriptional factors and a negative regulator of Oct4 (Rosa and Brivanlou 2011). In hESCs, NR2F2 expression begins with differentiation and conversely correlates with the expression of Oct4 and miR302/367. Studies have also shown that Oct4, Nanog and Sox 2 bind to the promoter regions of miR302/367 and activate miR302 expression level (Marson et al. 2008). Through silencing of AOF1/2, MECP1/2 and DNMT1, we now understand that miR302 induces global demethylation and leads to Oct-4-Sox2-Nanog activation (Lee et al. 2002). The mutual stimulation between miR302 and Oct-Sox-Nanog forms a positive feedback regulation loop to maintain the pluripotent status of reprogrammed iPSCs. In addition, the expression of Lin28 and many other ESC marker genes was observed 1-3 days later, after the presence of Oct4-Sox2-Nanog elevation (Kuo and Ying 2012). The key to somatic cell reprogramming (SCR) is global demethylation, which unlocks and resets these differentiated gene expression patterns to a highly uniform ESC-like profile. This "unlocking" of a genome allows transcription machinery to access to the ESC specific genes and is required for iPSC formation.

To date, viral transfection has been the primary method of introducing four reprogramming factors into cells because of its high efficiency of delivery. However, this method is less ideal for two reasons. One is the possible viral integration of exogenous genes into the host genome. Second, in cases where non-integration viral delivery is used, cMyc and Klf4 are less ideal because both are potential oncogenes. Thus, these factors will affect the safety use of cells in clinical trials. If miRNAs can induce reprogramming events similar to those Yamanaka factors, they will provide a simple and safer way to generate iPSCs due to the fact that no oncogene is required. In addition, the dual function of miR302 in both reprogramming as well as tumor suppression will provide a convenient means to control the quality of iPSCs that are more ideal for human use.

Global Epigenetic Changes in Pluripotent Stem Cells

Previous studies with polycistronic cassettes that encode all four factors indicated that although most of the cells express all four reprogramming factors, only a small subset of cells gets converted to the pluripotent state, resulting in low efficiency between 0.02 and 1% (Jaenisch and Young 2008). Most cells expressing the reprogramming factors fail to successfully induce the first morphological change of proper reprogramming events, remain fibroblast-like and often undergo apoptosis, senescence or cell cycle arrest. Each of these processes is thought to be a barrier to reprogramming and suppressions of these responses result in higher reprogramming efficiency (Kawamura et al. 2009). For example, deletion of p53 and p21 or Ink4a/Arf was found to enhance the efficiency and kinetics of iPSC reprogramming (Kawamura et al. 2009). It is likely that promotion of cell proliferation through S-phase results in resetting chromatin landscapes and improves reprogramming (Ruiz et al. 2011). However, it is still unclear why the majority of cells failed to reprogram completely compared to the number of cells that are proliferative. Only a subset, approximately 3–5%, of the somatic cells that initially express the reprogramming factors eventually convert to the pluripotent state within this time frame. These findings indicate that induction of the pluripotent state requires additional mechanism to drive cells into fully pluripotent state.

Additional reports also suggest that the general reprogramming timeline may require secondary or stochastic events through which certain cells acquire unique advantages that permit transition to pluripotency (Hanna et al. 2009). Thus, the ectopic expression of the current set of embryonic factors appears insufficient to reset the somatic nucleus along, and the mechanism of action likely includes the activation of additional, yet unidentified downstream effectors.

It is currently believed that repressive chromatin comprises a major mechanistic barrier to transcription factor-induced reprogramming. Recent large-scale analyses of DNA methylation and histone modifications revealed dynamic chromatin states and DNA methylation status at promoters and most CpG islands (Meissner et al. 2008), showing that the methylation state of H3K4 is a good indicator of promoter DNA methylation levels in mammalian cells. DNA methylation is a critical component of the epigenome that represses gene expression through promoter CG methylation, in addition to localization at heterochromatin and repetitive elements in the genome. This is consistent with prior studies indicating that H3K4 methylation disrupts DNA methylation by inhibiting contact of DNMTs with histones (Meissner et al. 2008).

Additional studies demonstrate that epigenomic landscape in hESC and lineage committed cells are drastically different and mainly differ in chromatin structure. Most changes arise from dramatic redistribution of repressive H3K9me3 and H3K27me3 marks (Harris et al. 2010). A large number of potential regulatory sequences also exhibit a high degree of dynamics in chromatin modifications and DNA methylation. This is mainly suggested by the ability of agents such as histone deacetylases, histone methyltransferases and demethylases, as well as DNA methyltransferase 1 inhibitors that liberate repressive chromatin states to enhance the process of reprogramming (Mikkelsen et al. 2007).

DNA methylation, and the loss of the repressive histone methylation marks, likely occurs at the end of the reprogramming process, concomitant with the binding of the reprogramming factors, Oct, Sox and Klf4, and transcriptional up-regulation of these genes (Mikkelsen et al. 2008). These findings are in agreement that the repressive chromatin state of promoters and enhancers of pluripotency-related genes may block engagement of the reprogramming factors. Thus reprogramming factors are not only inducing major transcriptional changes early on in the reprogramming process, but also affect the chromatin landscape in a global manner and may be by altering the activity or levels of chromatin remodelers or modifiers. Clearly, chromatin remodeling is critical to efficient reprogramming.

Phases of Reprogramming

Gene expression profiling in mouse fibroblast reveals that there are three phases during reprogramming: initiation, maturation and stabilization (Samavarchi-Tehrani et al. 2010). The first 5 days of reprogramming are characterized by an induction of a large number of epithelial associated genes. These genes include the epithelial junctional protein E-cadherin (Cdh1), as well as Cldns, -3, -4, -7, -11, Occuldin (Ocln), Epithelial cell adhesion molecule (Epcam) and Crumbs homolog 3 (Crb3), all of which are components of epithelial junctions. Knockdown of E-cadherin has been shown to interfere with reprogramming (Li et al. 2010). While the initiation phase has no embryonic stem cell factor expression, the maturation phase is marked by the expression of Nanog, Sall4, Esrrb, Rex1, Tcl1, Cripto and Nodal, which occurred at approximately day eight. Nanog drives broad changes in the transcription program that are associated with the acquisition of pluripotency and can push preiPSCs to the pluripotent state (Silva et al. 2009). Finally, the stabilization phase is marked by expression of Dnmt3I, Lin28, Utf1, pecam, Stella and Dppa4 started around day 21 (Samavarchi-Tehrani et al. 2010).

The molecular events in the early phases of reprogramming are still poorly understood. A high resolution time-lapse imaging approach demonstrates that the first noticeable changes in reprogramming include an increase in proliferation rate and a decrease in cell size, occurring as early as 24 h post induction of the reprogramming factors in mouse fibroblasts (Smith et al. 2010). These morphological and proliferative changes are accompanied by the induction of proliferation genes and down-regulation of the somatic expression program (Samavarchi-Tehrani et al. 2010). While most cells may be expressing reprogramming factors, only few cells undergo the rapid shift in proliferation that coincides with the reduction of cell size in this early phase of reprogramming. The initial phase is elastic because withdrawal of reprogramming factors after 5 days resulted in genes reverting

back to expression levels observed in the starting fibroblast population (Samavarchi-Tehrani et al. 2010).

A Mesenchymal-to-Epithelial Transition

One of the first noticeable changes during the reprogramming of fibroblasts, after suppression of the somatic transcriptional program, is their transformation into tightly packed clusters of rounded cells and coordinated changes in cell-cell and cellmatrix interactions, which corresponds with a loss of mesenchymal features and the acquisition of epithelial cell characteristics (Li et al. 2010). Modulations of signaling pathways, such as inhibiting the transforming growth factor TGFb, results in enhancing reprogramming because TGFb activity prevents mesenchymal-epithelial transition (MET) by inhibiting both the up-regulation of epithelial markers and the down-regulation of the mesenchymal transcriptional repressor Snail1 (Samavarchi-Tehrani et al. 2010). In addition, studies reveal the initiation phase consists of interaction of morphogenetic protein (BMP) with OKMS to induce miR-205 and miR-200 family members that in turn promote MET. Moreover, MET driven by the miRNA-200 family mimics synergized with OKMS to accelerate reprogramming and removed the requirement for BMP signaling during the early phase. This suggests that the major function for BMP during the early phase of MEF reprogramming is to induce MET (Samavarchi-Tehrani et al. 2010). These studies indicate that that MET is a critical step in fibroblast reprogramming.

Establishing Pluripotency

The sequential steps in establishing pluripotency are: the induction of proliferation, downregulation of fibroblasts specific transcription, the acquisition of epithelial characteristics and activation of endogenous pluripotency genes, followed by silencing of transgenes used for reprogramming. Studies of sequential expression of pluripotency markers in mice demonstrate that alkaline phosphatase (AP) was activated first, followed by the stage specific embryonic antigen (SSEA1) at an intermediate state. While in human systems, alkaline phosphatase (AP) and the cell surface markers SSEA3, SSEA 4, TRA-1-81, TRA-1-60 and CD24 (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006) (Chin et al. 2009) are early pluripotent markers that are widely used to detect iPS cells in culture. After cells have attained epithelial characteristics, activation of the core pluripotency network is established, i.e. up-regulation of pluripotent related genes such as Oct4, Sox2, Nanog and other pluripotent-related genes (Brambrink et al. 2008). The up-regulation of the core pluripotency network is considered the final step of reprogramming.

Additional basic tests that the iPS cell line has to meet in order to be considered true iPSC includes the ability to form teratomas; and when injected into blastocysts, iPS cells should contribute to the embryo tissues, including the germ line. Ultimately, the ability of iPSC to form a whole animal via tetraploid complementation is a clear indication of iPSC pluripotency and a nearly identical state to ESC (Stadtfeld et al. 2010).

Conclusion

Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) provide an invaluable resource for drug or toxicology screening, medical research and patient-specific cell therapy. The ground-breaking work of Yamanaka and Thomson showed that forced expression of just four transcription factors can reprogram mouse and human somatic cells to pluripotency, leading to the discovery of the induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs).

Pluripotent stem cells are able to self-renew indefinitely and differentiate into all types of cells in the body. These cells have opened up the opportunity to develop human disease models in vitro, drug and toxicity screening tools. In addition, they can be an inexhaustible source for future cell transplantation therapy to treat degenerative diseases that currently have no cure. Since non-autologous cells will cause immune rejection, induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) technology can convert somatic cells to the pluripotent state and, therefore, offers a solution to this problem. Since the first generation of iPSCs, there has been an explosion of relevant research, from which we have learned much about the genetic networks and epigenetic landscape of pluripotency, as well as how to manipulate genes, epigenetics and microRNAs to obtain iPSCs. In the end, iPSCs continue to offer much promise for both clinical applications with personalized medicine and for basic research in developmental and cell biology. Before iPSCbased clinical applications can be initiated, detailed evaluations of the cells, including their differentiation potentials and tumorigenic activities in different contexts, should be investigated to establish their safety and effectiveness for cell transplantation therapies. Once their safety is confirmed, human-induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs), which do not entail ethical concerns, may become a preferred cell source for regenerative medicine.

References

- Aasen T, Raya A, Barrero MJ, Garreta E, Consiglio A, Gonzalez F, Vassena R, Bilic J, Pekarik V, Tiscornia G, Edel M, Boue S, Izpisua Belmonte JC (2008) Efficient and rapid generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human keratinocytes. Nat Biotechnol 26(11):1276–1284
- Boyer LA, Lee TI, Cole MF, Johnstone SE, Levine SS, Zucker JP, Guenther MG, Kumar RM, Murray HL, Jenner RG, Gifford DK, Melton DA, Jaenisch R, Young RA (2005) Core transcriptional regulatory circuitry in human embryonic stem cells. Cell 122(6):947–956
- Brambrink T, Foreman R, Welstead GG, Lengner CJ, Wernig M, Suh H, Jaenisch R (2008) Sequential expression of pluripotency markers during direct reprogramming of mouse somatic cells. Cell Stem Cell 2(2):151–159
- Briggs R, King TJ (1952) Transplantation of living nuclei from blastula cells into enucleated Frogs' eggs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 38(5):455–463
- Campbell KH, McWhir J, Ritchie WA, Wilmut I (1996) Implications of cloning. Nature 380(6573):383
- Carey BW, Markoulaki S, Hanna JH, Faddah DA, Buganim Y, Kim J, Ganz K, Steine EJ, Cassady JP, Creyghton MP, Welstead GG, Gao Q, Jaenisch R (2011) Reprogramming factor stoichiometry influences the epigenetic state and biological properties of induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 9(6):588–598

- Chen X, Xu H, Yuan P, Fang F, Huss M, Vega VB, Wong E, Orlov YL, Zhang W, Jiang J, Loh YH, Yeo HC, Yeo ZX, Narang V, Govindarajan KR, Leong B, Shahab A, Ruan Y, Bourque G, Sung WK, Clarke ND, Wei CL, Ng HH (2008) Integration of external signaling pathways with the core transcriptional network in embryonic stem cells. Cell 133(6):1106–1117
- Chin MH, Mason MJ, Xie W, Volinia S, Singer M, Peterson C, Ambartsumyan G, Aimiuwu O, Richter L, Zhang J, Khvorostov I, Ott V, Grunstein M, Lavon N, Benvenisty N, Croce CM, Clark AT, Baxter T, Pyle AD, Teitell MA, Pelegrini M, Plath K, Lowry WE (2009) Induced pluripotent stem cells and embryonic stem cells are distinguished by gene expression signatures. Cell Stem Cell 5(1):111–123
- Hanna J, Saha K, Pando B, van Zon J, Lengner CJ, Creyghton MP, van Oudenaarden A, Jaenisch R (2009) Direct cell reprogramming is a stochastic process amenable to acceleration. Nature 462(7273):595–601
- Harris RA, Wang T, Coarfa C, Nagarajan RP, Hong C, Downey SL, Johnson BE, Fouse SD, Delaney A, Zhao Y, Olshen A, Ballinger T, Zhou X, Forsberg KJ, Gu J, Echipare L, O'Geen H, Lister R, Pelizzola M, Xi Y, Epstein CB, Bernstein BE, Hawkins RD, Ren B, Chung WY, Gu H, Bock C, Gnirke A, Zhang MQ, Haussler D, Ecker JR, Li W, Farnham PJ, Waterland RA, Meissner A, Marra MA, Hirst M, Milosavljevic A, Costello JF (2010) Comparison of sequencingbased methods to profile DNA methylation and identification of monoallelic epigenetic modifications. Nat Biotechnol 28(10):1097–1105
- Jaenisch R, Young R (2008) Stem cells, the molecular circuitry of pluripotency and nuclear reprogramming. Cell 132(4):567–582
- Kawamura T, Suzuki J, Wang YV, Menendez S, Morera LB, Raya A, Wahl GM, Izpisua Belmonte JC (2009) Linking the p53 tumour suppressor pathway to somatic cell reprogramming. Nature 460(7259):1140–1144
- Kim J, Woo AJ, Chu J, Snow JW, Fujiwara Y, Kim CG, Cantor AB, Orkin SH (2010) A Myc network accounts for similarities between embryonic stem and cancer cell transcription programs. Cell 143(2):313–324
- Kuo CH, Ying SY (2012) Advances in microRNAmediated reprogramming technology. Stem Cells Int 2012:823709
- Lee NS, Dohjima T, Bauer G, Li H, Li MJ, Ehsani A, Salvaterra P, Rossi J (2002) Expression of small interfering RNAs targeted against HIV-1 rev transcripts in human cells. Nat Biotechnol 20(5):500–505
- Li R, Liang J, Ni S, Zhou T, Qing X, Li H, He W, Chen J, Li F, Zhuang Q, Qin B, Xu J, Li W, Yang J, Gan Y, Qin D, Feng S, Song H, Yang D, Zhang B, Zeng L, Lai L, Esteban MA, Pei D (2010) A mesenchymal-toepithelial transition initiates and is required for the nuclear reprogramming of mouse fibroblasts. Cell Stem Cell 7(1):51–63
- Lin SL, Chang DC, Chang-Lin S, Lin CH, Wu DT, Chen DT, Ying SY (2008) Mir-302 reprograms human skin cancer cells into a pluripotent ES-cell-like state. RNA 14(10):2115–2124

- Lin SL, Chang DC, Lin CH, Ying SY, Leu D, Wu DT (2011) Regulation of somatic cell reprogramming through inducible mir-302 expression. Nucleic Acids Res 39(3):1054–1065
- Marson A, Levine SS, Cole MF, Frampton GM, Brambrink T, Johnstone S, Guenther MG, Johnston WK, Wernig M, Newman J, Calabrese JM, Dennis LM, Volkert TL, Gupta S, Love J, Hannett N, Sharp PA, Bartel DP, Jaenisch R, Young RA (2008) Connecting microRNA genes to the core transcriptional regulatory circuitry of embryonic stem cells. Cell 134(3):521–533
- Meissner A, Mikkelsen TS, Gu H, Wernig M, Hanna J, Sivachenko A, Zhang X, Bernstein BE, Nusbaum C, Jaffe DB, Gnirke A, Jaenisch R, Lander ES (2008) Genome-scale DNA methylation maps of pluripotent and differentiated cells. Nature 454(7205):766–770
- Mikkelsen TS, Ku M, Jaffe DB, Issac B, Lieberman E, Giannoukos G, Alvarez P, Brockman W, Kim TK, Koche RP, Lee W, Mendenhall E, O'Donovan A, Presser A, Russ C, Xie X, Meissner A, Wernig M, Jaenisch R, Nusbaum C, Lander ES, Bernstein BE (2007) Genome-wide maps of chromatin state in pluripotent and lineage-committed cells. Nature 448(7153):553–560
- Mikkelsen TS, Hanna J, Zhang X, Ku M, Wernig M, Schorderet P, Bernstein BE, Jaenisch R, Lander ES, Meissner A (2008) Dissecting direct reprogramming through integrative genomic analysis. Nature 454(7200):49–55
- Nakagawa M, Koyanagi M, Tanabe K, Takahashi K, Ichisaka T, Aoi T, Okita K, Mochiduki Y, Takizawa N, Yamanaka S (2008) Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells without Myc from mouse and human fibroblasts. Nat Biotechnol 26(1):101–106
- Plath K, Lowry WE (2011) Progress in understanding reprogramming to the induced pluripotent state. Nature reviews. Genetics 12(4):253–265
- Rahl PB, Lin CY, Seila AC, Flynn RA, McCuine S, Burge CB, Sharp PA, Young RA (2010) c-Myc regulates transcriptional pause release. Cell 141(3):432–445
- Ren J, Jin P, Wang E, Marincola FM, Stroncek DF (2009) MicroRNA and gene expression patterns in the differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. J Transl Med 7:20
- Rosa A, Brivanlou AH (2011) A regulatory circuitry comprised of miR-302 and the transcription factors OCT4 and NR2F2 regulates human embryonic stem cell differentiation. EMBO J 30(2):237–248
- Ruff D, MacArthur C, Tran H, Bergseid J, Tian J, Shannon M, Chen SM, Fontes A, Laurent L, Swartzman E, Taliana A, Rao M, Lieu PT (2012) Applications of quantitative polymerase chain reaction protein assays during reprogramming. Stem Cells Dev 21(4):530–538
- Ruiz S, Panopoulos AD, Herrerias A, Bissig KD, Lutz M, Berggren WT, Verma IM, Izpisua Belmonte JC (2011)

A high proliferation rate is required for cell reprogramming and maintenance of human embryonic stem cell identity. Curr Biol 21(1):45–52

- Samavarchi-Tehrani P, Golipour A, David L, Sung HK, Beyer TA, Datti A, Woltjen K, Nagy A, Wrana JL (2010) Functional genomics reveals a BMP-driven mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition in the initiation of somatic cell reprogramming. Cell Stem Cell 7(1):64–77
- Silva J, Nichols J, Theunissen TW, Guo G, van Oosten AL, Barrandon O, Wray J, Yamanaka S, Chambers I, Smith A (2009) Nanog is the gateway to the pluripotent ground state. Cell 138(4):722–737
- Smith ZD, Nachman I, Regev A, Meissner A (2010) Dynamic single-cell imaging of direct reprogramming reveals an early specifying event. Nat Biotechnol 28(5):521–526
- Stadtfeld M, Apostolou E, Akutsu H, Fukuda A, Follett P, Natesan S, Kono T, Shioda T, Hochedlinger K (2010) Aberrant silencing of imprinted genes on chromosome 12qF1 in mouse induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 465(7295):175–181
- Subramanyam D, Lamouille S, Judson RL, Liu JY, Bucay N, Derynck R, Blelloch R (2011) Multiple targets of miR-302 and miR-372 promote reprogramming of human fibroblasts to induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 29(5):443–448
- Suh MR, Lee Y, Kim JY, Kim SK, Moon SH, Lee JY, Cha KY, Chung HM, Yoon HS, Moon SY, Kim VN, Kim KS (2004) Human embryonic stem cells express a unique set of microRNAs. Dev Biol 270(2):488–498
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126(4):663–676
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131(5):861–872
- Theunissen TW, van Oosten AL, Castelo-Branco G, Hall J, Smith A, Silva JC (2011) Nanog overcomes reprogramming barriers and induces pluripotency in minimal conditions. Curr Biol 21(1):65–71
- Tiemann U, Sgodda M, Warlich E, Ballmaier M, Scholer HR, Schambach A, Cantz T (2011) Optimal reprogramming factor stoichiometry increases colony numbers and affects molecular characteristics of murine induced pluripotent stem cells. Cytometry A 79(6):426–435
- Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, Nie J, Jonsdottir GA, Ruotti V, Stewart R, Slukvin II, Thomson JA (2007) Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 318(5858):1917–1920